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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
To the Honorable Mayor and 
Members of the City Council of the 
City of Graham 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
aggregate discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of 
Graham, Texas (the City), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to 
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Opinions 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component unit, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of September 30, 2020, and the respective changes 
in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s discussion and 
analysis, general fund budgetary comparison information, Schedule of Funding Progress (OPEB Plan), Schedule of Changes 
in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios, Schedules of Changes in Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios and 
Schedules of Employer Contributions on pages 3-10 and 51-59 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the City’s 
basic financial statements. The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements (including the budgetary 
comparison schedules), are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial 
statements.  The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements (including the budgetary comparison 
schedules) are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling 
such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to 
the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements 
(including the budgetary comparison schedules) are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 11, 2021, on our 
consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the 
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the City’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of 
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance. 

   
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
 
MWH GROUP, P.C. 
Wichita Falls, Texas 
May 11, 2021 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
This section of the City of Graham’s annual financial report presents our discussion and analysis of the City’s financial 
performance during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020.  Please read it in conjunction with the City’s financial 
statements, which follow this section. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 

 The City’s total net position was $19,341,633 at September 30, 2020.  Of this amount, the City has a deficit of 
$1,340,210 in unrestricted net position. 

 
 During the year, the City’s expenses were $766,698 less than the $16,128,990 generated in taxes and other revenues 

for governmental programs and business-type activities. 
 

 The general fund reported a deficit fund balance this year of $1,733,553. 
 

 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This annual report consists of three parts-management’s discussion and analysis (this section), the basic financial statements, 
and required supplementary information.  The basic financial statements include two kinds of statements that present 
different views of the City: 
 

 The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both long-term and short-term 
information about the City’s overall financial status. 

 
 The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of the government, reporting 

the City’s operations in more detail than the government-wide statements. 
 

 The governmental funds statements tell how general government services were financed in the short term as well as 
what remains for future spending. 

 
 Proprietary fund statements offer short- and long-term financial information about the activities the government 

operates like businesses. 
 

The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial statements and provide more 
detailed data.  The statements are followed by a section of required supplementary information that further explains and 
supports the information in the financial statements.  The Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Basic Financial 
Statements, and Required Supplementary Information are the three main components of the City’s financial statements.  The 
basic financial statements include the government-wide financial statements, fund financial statements and the notes to the 
financial statements. 
 
The remainder of this overview section of management’s discussion and analysis explains the structure and contents of each 
of the statements. 
 
Government-wide Statements 
 
The government-wide statements report information about the City as a whole using accounting methods similar to those 
used by private-sector companies.  The statement of net position includes all of the government’s assets and liabilities.  All of 
the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the statement of activities regardless of when cash is received 
or paid. 
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The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how it has changed.  Net position - the difference 
between the City’s assets and liabilities- is one way to measure the City’s financial health or position. 
 

 Over time, increases or decreases in the City’s net position is an indicator of whether its financial health is 
improving or deteriorating, respectively. 

 
 To assess the overall health of the City, one needs to consider additional nonfinancial factors such as changes in the 

City’s tax base. 
 
In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities there is the following kind of activity: 
 

• Governmental Activities - These are distinct functions of the City that are principally supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their 
costs through user fees and charges. The governmental activities of the City include the finance and administration, 
police, fire department, streets, refuse disposal, airport, library, parks and recreation, cemetery, and other services. 
Property taxes, franchise taxes, and state and federal grants finance most of these activities. 

 
•  Business-type Activities - These amounts include the water, water supply district, and sewer department activities of 

the City. 
 
•  Component Units - The Graham Economic Improvement Corporation, although legally separate, function for all 

practical purposes as departments of the City.   
 
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The fund financial statements report the City's operations in more detail than the government-wide statements by providing 
information about the City's most significant funds – not the City as a whole. For governmental activities, these statements 
tell how services were financed in the short term as well as what resources remain for future spending. They reflect the flow 
of current financial resources and supply the basis for tax levies and the appropriations budget. For instance, laws and 
contracts require the City to establish some funds, such as the Debt Service Fund. The City's administration establishes many 
other funds to help it control and manage money for particular purposes (like the Main Street Fund and Library Fund). 
 
The City has the following kinds of funds: 
 

•  Governmental Funds - Most of the City's basic services are included in governmental funds, which use modified 
accrual accounting (a method that measures the receipt and disbursement of cash and all other financial assets that 
can be readily converted to cash) and report balances that are available for future spending. Consequently, the 
governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps you determine whether there are more or 
fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the City's programs. We describe the 
differences between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities) and governmental funds in reconciliation schedules following each of the fund financial statements. 

 
•  Proprietary Funds - These funds are used to account for the City's ongoing organizations and activities that are 

similar to those often found in the private sector. The generally accepted accounting principles here are those 
applicable to similar businesses in the private sector, and the measurement focus is based upon determination of net 
income, financial position, and cash flows. 

 
Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions as business-type activities in the government-wide financial 
statements and therefore established to finance and account for the acquisition, operation, and maintenance of the 
City facilities and services that are entirely or predominantly self-supporting by user charges. The City maintains 
three enterprise funds, which include the sewer, water, and water plant reserve funds. 

 
The sewer fund accounts for revenues and expenses of the operations and maintenance of the sewer system of the 
City, while the water fund accounts for revenues and expenses of the operation and maintenance of the water system 
of the City. The Water Plan Reserve Fund is the blended component unit that is an entity legally separate from the 
City. It is blended with the enterprise fund and reported as part of the City's operations because its purpose is to 
account for the investments and interest earned in order to fund the construction of the City's water treatment plant. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE  
  
Net position of the City's governmental and business-type activities increased by $766,698.  Unrestricted net position - the 
part of net position that can be used to finance day-to-day operations without constraints established by debt covenants, 
enabling legislation, or other legal requirements was a deficit balance of $1,340,210 at September 30, 2020.  
 

Net Position – Comparative September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 
 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Current and other assets 2,216,692$    1,642,418$    7,457,401$    7,132,346$    9,674,093$    8,774,764$    

Capital assets, net 9,855,970      10,377,085    19,948,048    20,758,274    29,804,018    31,135,359    
Total assets 12,072,662    12,019,503    27,405,449    27,890,620    39,478,111    39,910,123    

Deferred outflows
Debt refunding -                 3,409              -                 -                 -                 3,409              
Pensions and OPEB 1,038,581      826,076         410,429         303,179         1,449,010      1,129,255      

Total outflows of resources 1,038,581      829,485         410,429         303,179         1,449,010      1,132,664      

Long-term liabilities 5,853,465      6,316,012      14,400,489    15,197,168    20,253,954    21,513,180    
Other liabilities 433,424         502,309         174,577         220,040         608,001         722,349         

Total liabilities 6,286,889      6,818,321      14,575,066    15,417,208    20,861,955    22,235,529    

Deferred inflows
Pensions 350,614         159,474         167,617         57,755           518,231         217,229         
OPEB 149,292         11,026           56,010           4,068              205,302         15,094           

Total inflows of resources 499,906         170,500         223,627         61,823           723,533         232,323         

Net investment in capital assets 8,813,041      8,953,599      7,434,419      7,316,526      16,247,460    16,270,125    
Restricted 1,523,028      1,273,797      2,911,355      2,892,456      4,434,383      4,166,253      
Unrestricted (4,011,621)     (4,367,229)     2,671,411      2,505,786      (1,340,210)     (1,861,443)     

Total net position 6,324,448$    5,860,167$    13,017,185$  12,714,768$  19,341,633$  18,574,935$  

Governmental Activities TotalBusiness-type Activities
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Governmental Activities:  Governmental and business-type activities increased the net position of the City by $766,698 
 Key elements of the increase are as follows: 
 

Change in Net Position – Comparative September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019 
 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenues:

Program Revenues:
Charges for Services 2,893,120$   3,042,412$   6,083,855$     5,827,498$      8,976,975$     8,869,910$     
Operating Grants and 
Contributions 636,783        414,631        -                  -                   636,783          414,631          
Capital Grants and 
Contributions 668,314        -                -                  -                   668,314          -                  

General Revenues
Property Taxes 2,473,244     2,417,768     -                  -                   2,473,244       2,417,768       
Sales & Other Taxes 3,097,875     2,953,385     -                  -                   3,097,875       2,953,385       
Investment Earnings 23,584          41,958          30,443            48,281             54,027             90,239            
Miscellaneous 43,195          172,916        178,577          178,166           221,772          351,082          

Total Revenue 9,836,115     9,043,070     6,292,875       6,053,945        16,128,990     15,097,015     

Expenses:
General Government 787,612        820,693        -                  -                   787,612          820,693          
Public Safety 3,350,111     3,388,530     -                  -                   3,350,111       3,388,530       
Public Works 3,466,206     3,548,686     -                  -                   3,466,206       3,548,686       
Health & Welfare 199,280        109,155        -                  -                   199,280          109,155          
Culture & Recreation 1,768,250     1,745,547     -                  -                   1,768,250       1,745,547       
Conservation & Development 359,732        475,401        -                  -                   359,732          475,401          
Debt Related 43,046          61,521          -                  -                   43,046             61,521            
Water Supply District -                -                88,984            88,984             88,984             88,984            
Water -                -                3,891,852       4,052,195        3,891,852       4,052,195       
Sewer -                -                1,407,219       931,129           1,407,219       931,129          

Total Expenses 9,974,237     10,149,533   5,388,055       5,072,308        15,362,292     15,221,841     

Change in net position before 
     transfers (138,122)       (1,106,463)   904,820          981,637           766,698          (124,826)         
Transfers 602,403        592,700        (602,403)         (592,700)         -                  -                  
Net Position - Beginning 5,860,167     6,373,930     12,714,768     12,325,831      18,574,935     18,699,761     
Net Position - Ending 6,324,448$   5,860,167$   13,017,185$   12,714,768$    19,341,633$   18,574,935$   

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
Actual expenditures were $410,808 above final budget amounts, as refuse disposal and capital outlay were more than 
expected. 
 
Additionally, resources available were $749,665 above the final budgeted amount, as sales and use taxes, intergovernmental 
grants, and other revenues exceeded the budgeted amounts. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital assets. At the end of 2020, the City had invested $29,804,018 in a broad range of capital assets, including land, 
equipment, buildings and vehicles: 
 

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Land 641,254$        641,256$         -$                -$                641,254$        641,256$       
Construction in progress 202,068          -                   -                  -                  202,068          -                 

Buildings and Improvements 12,135,556     11,771,290      676,487          676,487          12,812,043     12,447,777    

Equipment 7,708,855       7,747,230        1,414,850       1,232,374       9,123,705       8,979,604      

Infrastructure 10,795,754     10,795,753      -                  -                  10,795,754     10,795,753    
Leasehold Improvements 31,741            31,741             -                  -                  31,741            31,741           
Distribution and Collection Systems -                  -                   35,282,671     35,282,670     35,282,671     35,282,670    
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (21,659,258)    (20,610,185)    (17,425,960)    (16,433,257)   (39,085,218)    (37,043,442)   

Capital Assets, net 9,855,970$     10,377,085$    19,948,048$   20,758,274$  29,804,018$   31,135,359$  

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total

More detailed information about the City’s capital assets is presented in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
Debt 
 
At year end, the City had $11,715,000 in bonds and tax and revenue certificates of obligation payable, capital lease 
obligations of $533,352 and notes payable of $1,308,206.  More detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities is 
presented in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES 

 
The City's elected and appointed officials considered many factors when setting the fiscal year 2020-21 budget and tax rate, 
including changes in the local economy.  The City’s tax appraised value increased by 11%, from $320,786,189 to 
$357,147,869.   

 
These indicators were taken into account when adopting the General Fund budget for 2020-21. A surplus of revenues over 
expenditures of $103,000 was budgeted. Total budgeted expenditures for the City General Fund are $8,816,638. Total 
budgeted revenues for the City are $8,919,638. The City has added no other major new programs or initiatives to the 2020-21 
budget.  

 
Property taxes are budgeted to reflect an increase in appraised values and no change in the tax rate to raise additional funds 
over last year. Conservative sales taxes are budgeted to reflect the slow recovery.   
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CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the City’s finances and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for the money it receives.  If you have questions 
about this report or need additional financial information, contact the City Business Office at:  City of Graham, Texas, P. O. 
Drawer 1449, Graham, Texas 76450. 
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Note 1: Reporting Entity 
 
The City of Graham (the City) was founded in 1872.  The City operates under the Council-Manager form of government 
adopted by a home rule charter approved March 3, 1893.  The City provides a full range of municipal services including 
public safety (police and fire), highway and streets, sanitation, culture and recreation, health and social services, public 
improvement, planning and zoning, and general administrative services.  In addition, the City provides water and sewer 
service as a proprietary function of the City. 
 
The accounting policies of the City of Graham, conform to generally accepted accounting principles issued by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) which is the recognized financial accounting standard setting body for 
governmental entities.  The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the City’s basic financial statements. 

 
The City of Graham is a home rule municipality governed by an elected mayor and a four member City Council who appoint 
a City Manager.  The City’s financial statements include its component units.  The accompanying basic financial statements 
comply with the provisions of the GASB Statement No. 14, as amended by GASB No. 61 The Financial Reporting Entity, in 
that the financial statements include all organizations, activities, functions and component units for which the City (the 
primary government) is financially accountable.  Financial accountability is defined as the appointment of a voting majority 
of a legally separate organization’s governing body and either (1) the City’s ability to impose its will over the organization, 
or (2) the potential that the organization will provide a financial benefit to or impose a financial burden on the City. 
 
Blended Component Unit 
 
The Graham Water Supply District (GWSD), an entity legally separate from the City, is governed by a five member board 
appointed by the City Council.  The GWSD is reported as an enterprise fund. 

 
Discretely Presented Component Units 
 
The Graham Economic Improvement Corporation (GEIC) is responsible for promoting and assisting economic development 
activities in the City. The GEIC is to cover any operating deficits of the Young County Arena by making an annual transfer 
to the City's arena special revenue fund. Therefore, this seven member board, who is appointed by the governing body of the 
City, is responsible for promoting and assisting economic improvement activities in the City. The GEIC is presented as a 
nonmajor enterprise fund type. 

 
Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The accounting and reporting policies of the City conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) 
applicable to state and local governments.  Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for local 
governments include those principles prescribed by the GASB, which includes all statements and interpretations of the 
National Council on Governmental Accounting unless modified by the GASB.  
 
Government-wide and fund financial statements 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e. the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report 
information on all of the activities of the primary government and its component units.  For the most part, the effect of 
interfund activity has been removed from these statements.  Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on 
fees and charges for support.  Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate 
component units for which the primary government is financially accountable. 

 
The Statement of Net Position reports the assets and liabilities of the primary government. The net position section of this 
statement represents the residual amount of assets less their associated liabilities. The net position section is divided into 
three categories. The first category is Invested in Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt, which includes all capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, less any debt outstanding associated with the assets. Capital assets cannot readily be sold and 
converted into cash.  
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued  
 
The second category is Restricted Net Position, which includes those assets, net of their related debt, that have a constraint 
placed on their use. The constraints are either l) externally imposed by creditors, such as through debt covenants, grantors, 
contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments, or 2) imposed by law through constitutional provisions or 
enabling legislation. The final section is Unrestricted Net Position, and this represents net position that generally can be used 
for any purpose. However, they are not necessarily in a spendable form, like cash. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment are offset by 
program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program 
revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or 
privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among 
program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.   
 
Separate fund financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds.  Major individual 
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
 
Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility 
requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Governmental Funds 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues 
are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities 
of the current period.  For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 
days of the end of the current fiscal period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting.  However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and 
judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. 

 
Property taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  Only the portion of special 
assessments receivable due within the current fiscal period is considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue of the current 
period.  All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 
 
The government reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general government, 
except those required to be accounted for in another fund. The general fund balance is available for any purpose, provided it 
is expended or transferred in accordance with the legally adopted budget of the City. 
 
Additionally, the government reports the following nonmajor governmental fund types: 
 

Special Revenue Funds – Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources 
(other than special assessments or major capital projects) that are legally restricted or assigned to expenditures for 
specified purposes. 
 
Debt Service Funds – Debt Service Funds are used to account for the accumulation of and use of property and sales 
tax revenue to meet the debt service requirements of the City’s general and revenue bonded debt. 
 
Permanent Fund – The City uses this fund to account for non-expendable trust arrangements where the principal 
may not be spent, and the earnings must be spent for a particular purpose.  This fund is used to report the activity of 
the Cemetery Fund. 
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued  
 
Proprietary funds are those used to account for the City's ongoing organizations and activities which are similar to those 
found in the private sector.  The measurement focus is upon capital maintenance and upon determination of net position and 
changes in net position. 
 
The government reports the following major proprietary funds: 
 
The Water Plant Reserve Fund accounts for the investments and interest earned in order to fund the construction of the City's 
water treatment plant. 
 
The Water Fund accounts for the activities of the City's water distribution operations. 
 
The Sewer Fund accounts for the activities of the City's sewage collection operations. 

 
The Graham Water Supply District Fund accounts for the activities of the GWSD, a blended component unit of the City. Its 
purpose is to finance and construct the City's water treatment plant. 

 
As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements.  
Exceptions to this general rule are payments-in-lieu of taxes and other charges between the government’s water and sewer 
function and various other functions of the government.  Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and 
program revenues reported for the various functions. 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges 
provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions, including special assessments.  
Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenue.  Likewise, general revenues 
include all taxes. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and expenses 
generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal 
ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the enterprise funds are charges for services.  Operating expense for 
enterprise funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.   
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government’s policy to use restricted resources 
first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
Stewardship, Compliance, and Accountability 
 
Budgetary Information 
 
The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial statements. 
 
The City Manager submits to City Council (the Council) a proposed budget. 
 
The Council holds a public hearing on the budget submitted and all interested persons are given an opportunity to be heard 
for or against any item or the amount of any item contained therein. 

 
After the conclusion of the public hearing, the Council may insert new items or may increase or decrease the items of the 
budget, except items in proposed expenditures fixed by law, but where it increases the total proposed expenditures, it also 
provides for an increase in the total anticipated revenue to at least equal such total proposed expenditures. 
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued  
 
The budget is adopted by a majority vote of the members of the whole Council. 
 
The budget must be adopted no later than the September 30th. Should the Council take no final action on or prior to such day, 
the budget as submitted by the City Manager shall be deemed to have been finally adopted by the Council. 

 
The City Manager may at any time transfer any unencumbered appropriation balance or portion thereof between general 
classifications of expenditures within an office, department or agency. Therefore, expenditures should not exceed 
appropriations at the “agency” level (i.e., general government, public safety, public works, culture and recreation, and debt 
service). The Council may transfer any unencumbered appropriation balance or portion thereof from one office, department 
or agency to another through formal budget amendments. Unencumbered appropriations lapse at year-end. 
 
Annual budgets are prepared for the general fund. Annual budgets are also prepared for water and sewer proprietary funds. 
 
Budgets for the general fund are prepared and adopted on a basis of accounting under which encumbered amounts at year-end 
are shown as additions to expenditures for budget purposes in the year in which encumbered. This basis of accounting is used 
for budgetary reports to determine compliance with budget requirements and is not intended to represent GAAP. The annual 
budgets for the proprietary fund types are also prepared on a basis other than GAAP. The differences are that depreciation is 
not budgeted, and capital outlay is budgeted in addition to the fact that encumbrances are included for budget purposes.  
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and 
expenses/expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity 
 
Deposits and Investments 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City’s cash and cash investments are considered to be cash on hand, demand 
deposits, and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. The City 
pools cash resources of its various funds to facilitate the management of cash. Management can readily identify cash 
applicable to a particular fund. The balance in the pooled cash accounts is available to meet current operating requirements. 
The depository bank pays the City interest on all funds on deposit. 
 
Investments having a maturity of one year or more, when purchased, are stated at fair value.  Short-term investments are 
stated at cost or amortized cost. 
 
Inventories 
 
The City generally does not report inventories of supplies such as consumable maintenance, office, and water and sewer 
inventory items due to the value of these items on hand at any given date being deemed immaterial. The City had no material 
inventories as of September 30, 2020. 
 
Receivables and Payables 
 
Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are 
referred to as either “due to/due from other funds” (i.e. the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other 
funds” (i.e. the non-current portion of interfund loans).  All other outstanding balances between funds are reported as “due 
to/from other funds”.  Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type activities are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements as “internal balances”. 
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued 
 
Receivables and Payables – continued  
 
All trade receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles.  Trade accounts receivable in excess of 60 days 
comprise the trade accounts receivable allowance for uncollectibles.  
 
Property taxes are levied on October 1 by the City based on January 1 property values as assessed by the Graham County 
Central Appraisal District.  Taxes are due, without penalty, by January 31, of the next calendar year.  After January 31, the 
City has an enforceable lien with respect to both real and personal property.  Under state law, property taxes levied on real 
property constitute a perpetual lien on the real property which cannot be forgiven without specific approval of the State 
Legislature.  Taxes applicable to personal property can be deemed uncollectible by the City. 
 
Capital Assets  
 
Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets, are reported in the applicable 
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by 
the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000. Such assets are recorded at historical cost if 
purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market value at the date of donation.  The 
costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets lives are not 
capitalized but are charged to operations as incurred. Improvements and betterments which materially extend the useful lives 
of capital assets are capitalized.  Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are 
constructed.  Interest incurred during the construction phase of the capital assets of business-type activities is included as part 
of the capitalized value of the assets constructed.  Contributions of capital assets from external sources are recorded as capital 
contribution revenue. 

 
Property, plant, and equipment of the primary government are depreciated using the straight line method over the following 
estimated useful lives: 
 

       Buildings        30 years 
    Improvements other than building     40 years  
    Machinery and equipment      10 years 
    Office equipment       10 years 
    Vehicles         7 years 
 
Compensated Absences 
 
Full time, permanent employees are granted vacation benefits in varying amounts to specified maximums depending on 
tenure with the City.  Time off, other than sick leave, is to be taken as vacation or is paid out upon termination.  Compensated 
absences are reported in the government wide financial statements. 
 
Sick leave accrues to employees in varying amounts to specified maximums, but does not vest.  Accordingly, employees can 
only utilize sick leave when sick.  Since the employees accumulating rights to receive compensation for future absences are 
contingent upon the absences being cause by future illnesses and such amounts cannot be reasonably estimated, a liability for 
unused sick leave is not recorded in the financial statements. 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources  
 
In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that 
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then.  The 
City has items that qualify for reporting in this category.  They include the deferred charge on bond refunding reported in the 
government-wide statement of net position, as well as deferred outflows related to the City’s pension with the Texas 
Municipal Retirement System (TMRS.) 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of 
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position  
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - continued 
 
that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City 
has items that qualify for reporting in this category. Unavailable revenue is reported only in the governmental funds balance 
sheet. The governmental funds report unavailable revenues from property taxes and fines. These amounts are deferred and 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available.  The City also has deferred inflows 
reported in the statement of net position related to the City’s pension with TMRS. 
 
Pensions 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions, and pension expense, information about the Fiduciary Net Position of the TMRS and additions to/deductions 
from TMRS’s Fiduciary Net Position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by TMRS.  For this 
purpose, plan contributions are recognized in the period that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when 
contributions are legally due.  Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) 
 
For purposes of measuring the total OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to OPEB, and OPEB expense have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by TMRS and actuaries. For this 
purpose, plan contributions are recognized in the period that compensation is reported for the employee, which is when 
contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
benefit terms.  
 
Long-Term Debt 
 
In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-term debt 
and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or 
proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts, are deferred and amortized over the life of the 
bonds using the straight line method which approximates the effective interest method.  Bonds payable are reported net of the 
applicable bond premium or discount.   

 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond issuance 
costs, during the current period.  The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources.  Premiums received 
on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing 
uses.  Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service 
expenditures. 
 
The amount capitalized under capital leases is the lesser of the present value of the minimum lease payments or the fair value 
of the leased properties at the beginning of the respective lease terms. When a governmental fund type acquires a capital asset 
through a capital lease agreement, the acquisition is reflected as an expenditure and other financing source. Capitalized leases 
of proprietary funds are accounted for entirely within the respective proprietary fund by capitalizing the asset acquired and 
recording the lease obligation as a liability. 
 
Fund Equity 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report the following classifications of fund balance: 
 
Nonspendable – includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not spendable in form or are legally or 
contractually required to be maintained intact.  The City’s fund balance reported as Nonspendable at September 30, 2020, 
include amounts that are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact (Cemetery Perpetual Care Permanent Fund). 
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued  
 
Fund Equity - continued 
 
Restricted – Constraints placed on the use of these resources are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt 
covenants), grantors, contributors or other governments; or are imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling 
legislation. 
 
Committed – includes amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes as established by a Council resolution or 
ordinance.  
 
Assigned – includes amounts that are constrained by the City Council, or by another city official or the finance division to 
which the City Council has delegated authority, that are intended to be used for specific purposes but are neither restricted nor 
committed. 
 
Unassigned – includes amounts that have not been assigned to other funds or restricted, committed or assigned to a specific 
purpose within the General Fund.  
 
Details of constraints on fund balances of governmental funds at September 30, 2020 are as follows: 
 

 General Fund 
 Nonmajor 

Governmental Funds 
 Total Governmental    

Funds 
Nonspendable:

Cemetery Perpetual Care -$                             381,549$                      381,549$                      
Restricted to:

Tourism -                               213,081                        213,081                        
Debt Service -                               821,749                        821,749                        
Grants -                               61                                61                                
Library -                               35,921                          35,921                          
Law Enforcement -                               22,913                          22,913                          
Municipal Court -                               47,754                          47,754                          

Assigned to:
Christmas Lights -                               202                              202                              
Park Improvement -                               1,293,491                     1,293,491                     
Community College -                               3,979                            3,979                            
Young County Arena -                               90,838                          90,838                          
Memorial Auditorium Fund -                               75,545                          75,545                          
Wal Mart Street Fund -                               42,327                          42,327                          
Main Street -                               -                               -                               

Unassigned (1,733,553)                   (130,372)                      (1,863,925)                   
(1,733,553)$                  2,899,038$                   1,165,485$                   

 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
The City adopted GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, which defines fair value as the price 
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction.  Fair value accounting requires 
characterization of the inputs used to measure fair value into three-level fair value hierarchy as follows: 
 

Level 1 inputs are based on unadjusted quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market 
the entity has the ability to access. 

 
Level 2 inputs are observable inputs that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset 
or liability developed based on market data obtained from sources independent from the entity. 
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued  
 
Fair Value Measurements - continued 
 

Level 3 inputs are observable inputs that reflect the entity’s own assumptions about the assumptions market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available. 

 
There are three general valuation techniques that may be used to measure fair value: 
 

Market approach – uses prices generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or 
liabilities. 
 
Cost approach – uses the amount that currently would be required to replace the service capacity of an asset 
(replacement cost). 
 
Income approach – uses valuation techniques to convert future amounts to present amounts based on current 
market expectations. 
 

Note 3: Deposits and Investments 
 
Cash and Cash Investments 
 
Deposits were with the contracted depository banks in interest bearing accounts which were secured throughout the year by 
FDIC coverage and by securities conforming to the provisions of House Bill 1488 pledged to, and in the name of, the City. 
All deposits are deemed collateralized under the provisions of the Governmental Accounting Standards Boards' “Codification 
of Governmental Accounting Standards”. 
 
At year end, the City’s carrying amount of deposits was $3,343,664 and the bank balance was $3,277,236.  The entire 
balance was collateralized with federal depository insurance and securities held by the pledging financial institution’s trust 
department or agent in the government’s name. 
 
GEIC, a discretely presented component unit, had a carrying amount of deposits of $5,400 and the bank balance was $10,000. 
The total amount of the bank balance was covered by federal depository insurance or by collateral held by the bank in the 
GEIC's name. 
 
Investments 
 
Credit Risk 
The primary stated objective of the City’s adopted Investment Policy is the safety of principal and avoidance of principal 
loss.  Credit risk within the City’s portfolio among the authorized investments approved by the City’s adopted Investment 
Policy is represented only in time and demand deposits, repurchase agreements, and local government investment pools.  All 
other investments are rated AAA, or equivalent, by at least one nationally recognized rating agency.  Investments are made 
primarily in obligations of the U.S. Government, its agencies or instrumentalities and certificates of deposits. 
 
State law and the City’s adopted Investment Policy restricts both time and demand deposits, including certificates of deposit 
(CD), to those banks doing business in the state of Texas and further requires full insurance and/or to be collateralized from 
these depositories (banks and savings banks).  Collateral, with a 102% margin, is required and collateral is limited to 
obligations of the U.S. Government, its agencies or instrumentalities, the State of Texas, and municipal obligations rated no 
less than “A” or equivalent by a nationally recognized rating agency. Independent safekeeping is required outside the 
pledging bank's holding company with monthly reporting.  Securities are monitored and priced at market on a daily basis as a 
contractual responsibility of the bank. 
 
By City policy and state law, repurchase agreements are limited to those with defined termination dates executed with a 
Texas bank or a primary dealer (as defined by the Federal Reserve Bank).  The agreements require written master repurchase 
agreement.   
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Note 3: Deposits and Investments – continued 
 
As of September 30, 2020, 

- certificates of deposit represented 15% of the total portfolio, 
- repurchase agreements represented  0% of the total portfolio, 
- commercial paper represented 0% of the total portfolio, 
- holdings in a non-rated money market mutual fund represented  85% of the total portfolio, 
- fully collateralized bank deposits represented 0% of the total portfolio, and 
- holdings in U.S. Government securities rated AAA represented 0% of the total portfolio. 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk 
The City of Graham recognizes over-concentration of assets by market sector or maturity as a risk to the portfolio.  The 
City’s adopted Investment Policy establishes diversification as a major objective of the investment program.   
 
Diversification limits are set by Policy as: % of

 Portfolio
U.S. Treasury Notes/ Bills 100%
U.S. Agencies & Instrumentalities 100%
State of Texas Obligations & Agencies 15%
Local Government Investment Pools 50%
Local Government Obligations (AA) 10%
Repurchase Agreements 25%
Certificates of Deposits 100%
U. S. Government Money Market Funds 50%
U. S. Treasury Notes & U. S. Agency Callables 35%

 
Interest Rate Risk 
In order to limit interest and market rate risk from changes in interest rates, the City's adopted Investment Policy sets a 
maximum average maturity date of one year.  Longer maturities may be utilized for bond proceeds but only if matched to 
planned expenditures of the funds.  The Investment Policy establishes a maximum final stated maturity of any investment of 
five years.   
 
A segmented time distribution analysis of the portfolio by market sector is shown in the table below. 
 
Primary Government

Fair Percentage Credit Less than Greater than
Investment Type Value of Total Rating 1 Year 1 year
2A-7 like Local Government Pools 2,268,177$      74.65% AAAm 2,268,177$         -$               
Certificates of Deposits 770,340 25.35% N/A 545,631              224,709          
Total Portfolio 3,038,517$      100% 2,813,808$         224,709$        

Graham Economic Improvement Corporation

Other Investments 1,287,962$      100% N/A 1,287,962$         -$               
Total Portfolio 1,287,962$      100% 1,287,962$         -$               

Investment Maturity

 
Investment pools are not categorized as to investment risk since specific securities relating to government cannot be 
identified.  The City utilizes Texas Local Government Investment Pool (TexPool), Local Government Investment 
Cooperative (LOGIC) and Texas Short Term Asset Reserve Program (TexSTAR).  The reported value of the pools are the 
same as the fair value of the pool shares. 
 
Under the TexPool Participation Agreement, administrative and investment services to TexPool are provided by Federated 
Investors, Inc. through an agreement with the State of Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts.  The State Comptroller is the 
sole officer, director, and shareholder of the Texas Treasury Safekeeping Trust Company authorized to operate TexPool.  The  
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Note 3: Deposits and Investments – continued 
 
reported value of the pool is the same as the fair value of the pool shares. TexPool is subject to annual review by an 
independent auditor consistent with the Public Funds Investment Act. Audited financial statements of the Pool are available 
at First Public, 12008 Research Blvd., Austin, Texas 78759.  In addition, TexPool is subject to review by the State Auditor’s 
Office and by the Internal Auditor of the Comptroller’s Office. 
 
Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) is a local government investment pool organized under the authority of 
the Interlocal Cooperation Act, chapter 791, of the Texas Government Code, and the Public Funds Investment Act, chapter 
2256, of the Texas Government Code.  J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. serves as investment advisor and co-
administrator with First Southwest Asset Management, Inc.  LOGIC invests in treasury and agency securities and repurchase 
agreements as well as prime commercial paper.  The pool maintains a weighted average maturity of 60 days or less.  The pool 
seeks to maintain a constant dollar objective.   
 
Texas Short Term Asset Reserve Program (TexSTAR) is a local government investment pool organized under the authority 
of the Interlocal Cooperation Act, chapter 791, of the Texas Government Code, and the Public Funds Investment Act, chapter 
2256, of the Texas Government Code.  J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. serves as investment advisor and co-
administrator with First Southwest Asset Management, Inc.  TexSTAR invests in treasury and agency securities and 
repurchase agreements fully collateralized by government securities.  The pool maintains a weighted average maturity of 60 
days or less.  The pool seeks to maintain a constant dollar objective.   
 
As of September 30, 2020, the portfolio contained no structured or callable notes. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk 
To control custody and safekeeping risk, state law and the City's adopted Investment Policy requires collateral for all time 
and demand deposits, as well as collateral for repurchase agreements, be transferred delivery versus payment and held by an 
independent party approved by the City and held in the City's name.  The custodian is required to provide original 
safekeeping receipts and monthly reporting of positions with position descriptions including market value.  Repurchase 
agreements and deposits must be collateralized to 102% and be executed under written agreements.  Depository agreements 
are executed under the terms of FIRREA. The counter-party of each type transaction is held contractually liable for 
monitoring and maintaining the required collateral margins on a daily basis. 
 
The City invests its investable funds in investments authorized by Texas law in accordance with investment policies 
approved by the City Council of the City.  Both state law and the City's investment policies are subject to change. The City 
did not engage in repurchase nor reverse repurchase agreement transactions during the current year.   
 
Note 4: Receivables 
 
Receivables as of September 30, 2020 for the City’s individual major funds and nonmajor funds in the aggregate, including 
applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts are as follows: 
 

General Water Sewer
Nonmajor 

Governmental Total
Receivables:
Taxes 601,902$       -$              -$             7,247$              609,149$          
Accounts 667,183 1,050,371 270,391 -                   1,987,945         
Grants 247,577 -                -              -                   247,577            

Gross receivables 1,516,662      1,050,371     270,391       7,247                2,844,671         

Less: allowance for uncollectibles (223,923)        (298,550)       (114,366)      (1,450)              (638,289)          

Net total receivables 1,292,739$    751,821$      156,025$     5,797$              2,206,382$       
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Note 5: Capital Assets 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2020, is as follows:  
 

Beginning 
Balance Additions

Retirements / 
Transfers Ending Balance

Governmental activities
Land 641,254$         -$                -$                 641,254$         
Construction in progress -                  202,068          -                   202,068          
Buildings and improvements 11,771,293      364,263          -                   12,135,556      
Equipment 7,747,229        42,574            (80,948)            7,708,855        
Infrastructure 10,795,754      -                  -                   10,795,754      
Leasehold improvements 31,741            -                  -                   31,741            

Total assets 30,987,271      608,905          (80,948)            31,515,228      

Less accumulated depreciation
Buildings and improvements (5,433,996)      (334,625)         -                   (5,768,621)      
Equipment (6,018,159)      (443,592)         80,948              (6,380,803)      
Infrastructure (9,126,291)      (351,803)         -                   (9,478,094)      
Leasehold improvements (31,740)           -                  -                   (31,740)           

Total accumulated depreciation (20,610,186)    (1,130,020)      80,948              (21,659,258)    
Governmental activities

 capital assets, net 10,377,085$    (521,115)$       -$                 9,855,970$      

Beginning 
Balance Additions

Retirements / 
Transfers Ending Balance

Business-type activities
Buildings and improvements 676,487$         -$                -$                 676,487$         
Equipment 1,232,374        182,476          -                   1,414,850        
Distribution and collection systems 35,282,671      -                  -                   35,282,671      

Total assets 37,191,532      182,476          -                   37,374,008      

Less accumulated depreciation
Buildings and improvements (196,953)         (18,479)           -                   (215,432)         
Equipment (846,190)         (139,049)         -                   (985,239)         
Distribution and collection systems (15,390,115)    (835,174)         -                   (16,225,289)    

Total accumulated depreciation (16,433,258)    (992,702)         -                   (17,425,960)    
Business-type activities

 capital assets, net 20,758,274$    (810,226)$       -$                 19,948,048$    
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Note 5: Capital Assets – continued  
 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions of the primary government as follows: 
 
Governmental Activities

General government 76,110$          
Public safety 202,786          
Highways and streets 448,321          
Airport 3,253              
Refuse disposal 373,893          
Health and welfare 25,657            

Total governmental activities 1,130,020$     
Business-type Activities:

Water 896,703$        
Sewer 95,999            

Total business-type activities 992,702$        

 
Discretely presented component units 
 
Activity for the GEIC for the year ended September 30, 2020, was as follows:  
 

Beginning 
Balance Additions

Retirements / 
Transfers Ending Balance

Land 39,891$          -$                -$                 39,891$          
Buildings and improvements 2,088,792        -                  -                   2,088,792        
Less accumulated depreciation (706,657)         (53,137)           -                   (759,794)         

GEIC capital assets, net 1,422,026$      (53,137)$         -$                 1,368,889$      

 
Note 6: Interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers 
 
The following is a summary of interfund receivables and payables: 
 

Due To Fund Due From Fund Amount Purpose

General Fund Hotel / Motel Fund 514,943$         Short-term loans
General Fund Reserve Ser. 1998 Hospital Impro. 31,919             Short-term loans
Young County Arena Fund General Fund 241,776           Short-term loans
G.O. Bond Fund General Fund 224,050           Short-term loans
Cemetery Endowment Fund General Fund 150,000           Short-term loans
Water Fund General Fund 888,079           Short-term loans
Sewer Fund General Fund 78,500             Short-term loans
Graham Water Supply District Water Plan and Reserve Fund 819                  Short-term loans
Water Plant Reserve Fund Sewer Fund 215,000           Short-term loans
Water Plant Reserve Fund Graham Airport Fund 193,639           Short-term loans
Water Plant Reserve Fund General Fund 543,325           Short-term loans
Water Plant Reserve Fund Water Fund 8,900               Short-term loans

3,090,950$      
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Note 6: Interfund Receivables, Payables and Transfers – continued  
 

Transfer From Transfer To Amount Purpose

General Fund Graham Airport Fund 9,866$             Payment for air fuel
General Fund Conservation and Visitors Bureau 182,186           CVB expenses
Water Fund General Fund 502,403           Appropriations to the General Fund
Sewer Fund General Fund 100,000           Appropriations to the General Fund
Hotel / Motel Fund General Fund 182,185           Refund for current years CVB expenses
Memorial Auditorium General Fund 26,985             Refund for Auditorium expenses

1,003,625$      

 
 
Note 7: Long-Term Obligations 

 
The following is a summary of changes in long-term obligations for the year ended September 30, 2020: 
 

Balance 
October 1 Issued Retirements

Balance 
September 30

Due Within 
One Year

Governmental activities
Combination tax & revenue

certificates of obligation 255,000$        -$                (125,000)$       130,000$          130,000$        
Notes payable 566,057          166,300          (263,508)         468,849            226,323          
Capital leases 605,838          -                  (161,758)         444,080            147,698          
Compensated absences 135,503          158,148          (160,044)         133,607            133,607          

Total governmental activity
long-term liabilities 1,562,398$     324,448$         (710,310)$       1,176,536$       637,628$        

Balance 
October 1 Issued Retirements

Balance 
September 30

Due Within 
One Year

Business-type Activities
Combination tax & revenue

certificates of obligation 12,150,000$   -$                (565,000)$       11,585,000$     565,000$        
Notes payable 1,134,461       -                  (295,104)         839,357            301,932          
Capital leases 157,287          -                  (68,015)          89,272              68,014            
Customer deposits payable 27,530            -                  (1,025)            26,505              -                 
Compensated absences 53,302            51,900            (47,492)          57,710              -                 

Total Business-type Activity 
long-term liabilities 13,522,580$   51,900$          (976,636)$       12,597,844$     934,946$        
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Note 7: Long-Term Obligations – continued  
 
Governmental Activities 
 
Bonds Payable: 
 
In fiscal year 2013, the City issued $1,250,000 in General Obligation Refunding Bonds, with interest rates ranging from 1.0% 
to 2.0% to refund a portion of its outstanding debt for debt service savings. The portion of the debt that represents refunded 
bonds were the Series 2003 Combination Tax and Revenue Certificate of obligation bonds and the 2006 Certificates of 
Obligation, totaling $1,205,000 and carried remaining interest rates ranging from 4.25% to 4.35%, both maturing in 2019 and 
2021, respectively. As of September 30, 2020, the bonds have an outstanding balance of $130,000. 
 
Notes Payable: 
 
In November 2016, the City entered into a $263,647 note payable to Graham Inter Bank for the purchase of equipment. The 
note carries an interest rate of 4.25% and is payable in three annual payments of $95,450. The note matured on November 18, 
2019. 
 
In March 2018, the City entered into a $125,500 note payable to Graham Inter Bank for the purchase of equipment. The note 
carries an interest rate of 4.75% and is payable in three annual payments of $45,873. The note matures on March 22, 2021 
and is secured by the equipment. As of September 30, 2020, the note has an outstanding balance of $43,783. 
 
In January 2019, the City entered into a $389,000 note payable to Graham Inter Bank for the purchase of equipment, of 
which $379,000 was for governmental activities. The note carries an interest rate of 5% and is payable in three annual 
payments of $142,856. The note matures on January 18, 2022 and is secured by the equipment. As of September 30, 2020, 
the note has an outstanding balance of $258,766 in governmental activities. 
 
In November 2019, the City entered into a $166,300 note payable to Graham Inter Bank for the purchase of equipment. The 
note carries an interest rate of 4.75% and is payable in three annual payments of $60,864. The note matures on November 7, 
2022 and is secured by the equipment. As of September 30, 2020, the note has an outstanding balance of $166,300. 
 
Annual debt service requirements for the governmental activities are as follows: 
 

Year Ending Total 

September 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Requirements

2021 $ 130,000           $ 1,300               $ 222,992           $ 22,917             $ 377,209             

2022 -                   -                   188,001           12,009             200,010             

2023 -                   -                   57,856             2,748               60,604               

Totals $ 130,000           $ 1,300               $ 468,849           $ 37,674             $ 637,823             

Bonds    Notes Payable

 
Business-type Activities 

 
Bonds Payable: 
 
In 2013, the City issued $2,445,000 of special assessment debt to provide funds for the construction of a new water treatment 
facility. The bonds have a stated interest rate of 4.00% and final payment is due February 15, 2033.  As of September 30, 
2020, the outstanding principal on the bonds is $1,835,000.  
 
In 2014, the City issued $12,285,000 of special assessment debt to provide funds for the improving and extending of the 
City’s Waterworks System, including the acquisition of land and rights-of-way and paying legal and engineering fees in  
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Note 7: Long-Term Obligations – continued 
 
connection with such project. The bonds have a stated interest rate ranging from 4.00% to 5.00% and final payment is due 
February 15, 2026.  As of September 30, 2020, the outstanding principal balance was $9,750,000. 
 
Notes Payable: 
 
In March 2016, the City entered into a $1,844,540 note payable to Government Capital Corporation for the purchase of an 
automated meter reading system.  The note carries an interest rate of 2.75% and is payable in seven annual payments of 
$293,277.  The note matures on March 1, 2023 and is secured by the system equipment.  As of September 30, 2020, the note 
has an outstanding balance of $832,557. 
 
In November 2016, the City entered into a $111,800 note payable to Graham Inter Bank for the purchase of equipment. The 
note carries an interest rate of 4.25% and is payable in three annual payments of $40,484. The note matured on November 18, 
2019. 
 
In January 2019, the City entered into a $389,000 note payable to Graham Inter Bank for the purchase of equipment, of 
which $10,000 was for business-type activities. The note carries an interest rate of 5% and is payable in three annual 
payments of $142,856. The note matures on January 18, 2022 and is secured by the equipment. As of September 30, 2020, 
the note has an outstanding balance of $6,800 in business-type activities. 
 
Annual debt service requirements for business-type activities are as follows: 

 

Year Ending Total 

September 30 Principal Interest Principal Interest Requirements

2021 $ 585,000           $ 561,933           273,713           23,237             $ 1,443,883          

2022 615,000           538,533           281,314           15,635             1,450,482          

2023 645,000           513,428           284,330           7,820               1,450,578          

2024 675,000           485,508           -                   -                   1,160,508          

2025 710,000           455,178           -                   -                   1,165,178          

2026-2030 4,215,000        1,512,808        -                   -                   5,727,808          

2031-2035 4,140,000        325,681           -                   -                   4,465,681          

Totals $ 11,585,000       $ 4,393,069        $ 839,357           $ 46,692             $ 16,864,118        

Bonds    Notes Payable

 
Capital Leases 
 
The City has entered into lease agreements as lessee for financing the acquisition of a fire truck, vehicles, road equipment and 
the retrofit of the lighting throughout the city offices. These lease agreements qualify as capital leases for accounting 
purposes and, therefore, have been recorded at the present value of their future minimum lease payments as of the inception 
date. 
 
In December 2014, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the Government Capital Corporation in the 
amount of $301,295 at an annual rate of interest of 2.95% for a period of 6 years for the purpose of acquiring a fire truck.  
Payments are due annually at an amount of $55,265 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2021. 
 
In October 2015, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $32,795 at an annual rate of interest of 2.55% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a Caterpillar skid 
steer.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $181 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2021. 
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Note 7: Long-Term Obligations – continued  
 
Capital Leases – continued 
 
In October 2015, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $29,102 at an annual rate of interest of 2.55% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a Caterpillar 
backhoe.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $299 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2021. 
 
In October 2015, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $89,211 at an annual rate of interest of 2.55% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a Caterpillar 
backhoe.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $930 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2021. 
 
In October 2015, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the Facilities Solutions Group, Inc. in the 
amount of $410,678 at an annual rate of interest of 8.75% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of retrofitting the lighting 
thought the City buildings.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $8,475 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2021. 
 
In September 2016, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $4,172 an annual rate of interest of 2.55% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a Caterpillar MP 
bucket.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $74 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2022. 
 
In September 2016, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $181,121 at an annual rate of interest of 2.55% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a freightliner 
and bearcat oil distributor.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $1,815 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2022. 
 
In September 2016, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $3,759 at an annual rate of interest of 2.55% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a Caterpillar 
Grapple Rack.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $67 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2022. 
 
In September 2016, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $48,100 at an annual rate of interest of 2.55% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a 239D skid 
steer.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $547 and the final residual value of $20,000 with the final maturity in fiscal 
year 2022. 
 
In September 2016, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $57,045 at an annual rate of interest of 2.55% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a 239D skid 
steer.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $608 and the final residual value of $26,000 with the final maturity in fiscal 
year 2022. 
 
In October 2016, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $44,744 at an annual rate of interest of 2.55% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a Caterpillar 
Mini Excavator.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $436 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2022. 
 
In October 2017, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $56,206 at an annual rate of interest of 2.85% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a Caterpillar skid 
steer.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $604 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2023. 
 
In January 2018, the City entered into a long-term capital lease agreement with the First National Bank Leasing in the 
amount of $209,541 at an annual rate of interest of 2.85% for a period of 5 years for the purpose of acquiring a Caterpillar 
930M Wheel Loader.  Payments are due monthly at an amount of $4,359 with the final maturity in fiscal year 2023. 
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Note 7: Long-Term Obligations – continued  
 
Capital Leases – continued 
 
Assets acquired through capital leases are as follows: 

 
Governmental Business-type 

Assets Activities Activities

Machinery and Equipment $ 1,093,586                            $ 348,976                             
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (690,779)                              (141,609)                            

Total $ 402,807                               $ 207,367                             

 
The future minimum lease obligation and the net present value of these minimum lease payments as of September 30, 2020 
were as follows. 

 
Year Ended Governmental Business-type 

September 30 Activities Activities

2021 $ 158,324                               $ 66,733                               
2022 176,254                               23,402                               
2023 125,663                               -                                     

Total minimum lease payments 460,241                               90,135                               

Less amount representing interest (16,161)                                (863)                                   

Present value of minimum lease payments $ 444,080                               89,272                               

 
Note 8: Retirement Plans 
 
Plan Description 

 
The City participates as one of 888 plans in the nontraditional, joint contributory, hybrid defined benefit pension plan 
administered by the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS). TMRS is an agency created by the State of Texas and 
administered in accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Government Code (the TMRS Act) as an agent 
multiple-employer retirement system for municipal employees in the State of Texas. The TMRS Act places the general 
administration and management of the System with a six-member Board of Trustees. Although the Governor, with the advice 
and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is not fiscally dependent on the State of Texas. TMRS’s defined 
benefit pension plan is a tax-qualified plan under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code. TMRS issues a publicly 
available comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) that can be obtained at www.tmrs.com. 
 
All eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS. 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the governing body of the City, 
within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS. 
 
At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee’s contributions, with interest, and the city-financed 
monetary credits with interest were used to purchase an annuity. Members may choose to receive their retirement benefit in 
one of seven payments options. Members may also choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a Partial Lump Sum 
Distribution in an amount equal to 12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, which cannot exceed 75% of the member’s deposits and 
interest.   
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Note 8: Retirement Plans – continued 
 
The plan provisions are adopted by the governing body of each city, within the options available in the state statutes 
governing TMRS.  The City has elected that members can retire at age 60 and above with 5 or more years of service or with 
25 years of service regardless of age.  The City does not provide supplemental death benefits. Members may work for more 
than one TMRS city during their career.  If a member is vested in one TMRS city, he or she is immediately vested upon 
employment with another TMRS city.  Similarly, once a member has met the eligibility requirements for retirement in a 
TMRS city, he or she is eligible in other TMRS cities as well. 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms: At the December 31, 2019 valuation and measurement date, the following employees 
were covered by the benefit terms: 
 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 72

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 37

Active employees 88

Total 197

 
Contributions 
 
The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross earnings, and the city matching 
percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by the governing body of the city. Under the state law 
governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually by the actuary, using the Entry Age Normal 
(EAN) actuarial cost method. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of 
benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. 
 
Employees for the City were required to contribute 5% of their annual gross earnings during the fiscal year amounting to 
$204,085 in the year ended September 30, 2020.  The City did not change its employee contribution rate during the year.  The 
contribution rates for the City were 10.44% and 11.30% in calendar years 2019 and 2018, respectively. The City’s 
contributions to TMRS for the year ended September 30, 2020, were $433,047, and were equal to the required contributions. 
 
Net Pension Liability 
 
The City’s Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2019, and the Total Pension Liability (TPL) used 
to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 
 
Actuarial assumptions: The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions: 
 

Inflation 2.50% per year

Overall payroll growth 2.75% per year, adjusted down for population declines, if any

Investment Rate of Return 6.75% net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

 
Salary increases are based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members are based on the PUB(10) mortality 
tables with the Public Safety table used for males and the General Employee table used for females. Mortality rates for 
healthy retirees and beneficiaries are based on the Gender-distinct 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas mortality tables. The 
rates for actives, healthy retirees and beneficiaries are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for 
future mortality improvements. For disabled annuitants, the same mortality tables for healthy retirees is used with a 4-year 
set-forward for males and a 3-year set-forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3.0% minimum mortality rate is applied, 
for males and females respectively, to reflect the impairment for younger members who become disabled. The rates are 
projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account for future mortality improvements subject to the floor. 
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Note 8: Retirement Plans – continued 
 
The actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation of the experience of TMRS over the 
four-year period from December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2018. They were adopted in 2019 and first used in the December 
31, 2019 actuarial valuation. The post-retirement mortality assumption for Annuity Purchase Rates (APRs) is based on the  
Mortality Experience Investigation Study covering 2009 through 2011 and dated December 31, 2013. Plan assets are 
managed on a total return basis with an emphasis on both capital appreciation as well as the production of income in order to 
satisfy the short-term and long-term funding needs of TMRS. 

 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which 
best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and 
inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of 
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
inflation. In determining their best estimate of a recommended investment return assumption under the various alternative 
asset allocation portfolios, GRS focused on the area between (1) arithmetic mean (aggressive) without an adjustment for time 
(conservative) and (2) the geometric mean (conservative) with an adjustment for time (aggressive). The target allocation and 
best estimates of real rates of return for each major asset class in fiscal year 2020 are summarized in the following table: 
 

Asset Class Target Allocation Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return 

Global Equity 30.00% 5.30%

Core Fixed Income 10.00% 1.25%
Non-Core Fixed Income 20.00% 4.14%
Real Return 10.00% 3.85%

Real Estate 10.00% 4.00%

Absolute Return 10.00% 3.48%

Private Equity 10.00% 7.75%

Total 100.00%

 
Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Asset was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made at the rates specified in statute. 
Based on that assumption, the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be available to make all projected 
future benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension 
plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the Total Pension Asset. 
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Note 8: Retirement Plans – continued 
 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability: 
 

Total Pension 
Liability          

(a)          

Plan  Fiduciary     
Net Position      

(b)

Net Pension 
Liability/(Asset)    

(a) - (b)

Balance at 12/31/2018 17,404,610$         14,752,320$         2,652,290$           

Changes for the year:

Service Cost 480,247               -                           480,247               

Interest 1,156,834            -                           1,156,834            

Difference between expected and actual experience 365,290               -                           365,290               

Changes in assumptions 80,767                 -                           80,767                 

Contributions - employer -                           448,044               (448,044)              

Contributions - employee -                           224,029               (224,029)              

Net investment income -                           2,278,617            (2,278,617)           

Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (1,012,891)           (1,012,891)           -                           

Administrative expense -                           (12,887)                12,887                 

Other changes -                           (386)                     386                      

Net changes 1,070,247            1,924,526            (854,279)              

Balance at 12/31/2019 18,474,857$         16,676,846$         1,798,011$           

Increase (Decrease)

 
Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: The following presents the net pension liability of the 
City, calculated using the discount rate of 6.75% as well as what the City’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (5.75%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.75%) than the current rate: 
 

1% Decrease in 
Discount Rate (5.75%) Discount Rate   (6.75%)

1% Increase in         
Discount Rate          

(7.75%)

City's net pension liability 4,890,645$                2,652,290$                  806,837$                       

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in a 
separately-issued TMRS financial report. That report may be obtained on the Internet at www.tmrs.com. 
  
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of 535,634. 
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Note 8: Retirement Plans – continued 
 
At September 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions 
from the following sources: 
 

Deferred              
Outflows of Resources

Deferred            
Inflows of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual economic experience 158,768$                       -$                           

Changes in actual assumptions 60,268                           -                             

Difference between projected and actual investment earnings -                                518,231                     
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 325,485                         -                             

Total 544,521$                       518,231$                   

 
$325,485 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the year ending September 30, 2021. Other 
amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as 
follows: 
 
Year Ended December 31:
2021 (143,642)$         
2022 (48,489)             
2023 149,503            
2024 (256,567)           
Thereafter -                    

(299,195)$         

 
Note 9:  Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) 
 
Texas Municipal Retirement System Supplemental Death Benefits Fund 
 
Plan Description 
 
The City of Graham participates in a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit group life insurance plan operated by the 
Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) known as the Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF).  The City elected, by 
ordinance, to participate in SBDF, and the City may terminate coverage under and discontinue participation in the SDBF by 
adopting an ordinance before November 1 of any year to be effective the following January 1. No assets are accumulated in a 
trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75. 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
The SBDF provides group-term life insurance coverage to both current and retired employees. The death benefit for active 
employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the employee’s annual salary (calculated based on the 
employee’s actual earnings, for the 12-month period preceding the month of death); retired employees are insured for $7,500. 
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Note 9:  Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) - continued 
 
Texas Municipal Retirement System Supplemental Death Benefits Fund - continued 
 
At the December 31, 2019 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:  
 

Inactive employees currently receiving benefits 51

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 4

Active employees 88
Total 143

 
Total OPEB Liability 
 
The City’s total OPEB liability was measured as of December 31, 2019, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
that date. 
 
Actuarial assumptions and other inputs 
 
The total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2018, actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 
 

Inflation 2.5% 

Salary increases 3.5% to 10.5%, including inflation 

Discount rate 3.71% 

Retirees' share of benefit-related costs $0 

 
The discount rate was based on the Fidelity Index’s “20-Year Municipal GO AA Index” rate as of December 31, 2018. 
 
All administrative expenses are paid through the Pension Trust and accounted for under reporting requirements under GASB 
Statement No. 68. 
 
Mortality rates for service retirees RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment with male rates 
multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103% and projected on a fully generational basis with scale BB. 
 
Mortality rates for disabled retirees RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment with male rates 
multiplied by 109% and female rates multiplied by 103% with a 3 year set-forward for both males and females. The rates are 
projected on a fully generational basis with scale BB to account for future mortality improvements subject to the 3% floor. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2018 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience study 
for the period December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2014. 
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Note 9:  Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) - continued 
 
Texas Municipal Retirement System Supplemental Death Benefits Fund - continued 
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability  
 
Total OPEB Liability - beginning of year 312,007$       
Changes for the year:

Service Cost 10,132           
Interest on Total OPEB Liability 11,681           
Changes of benefit terms -                
Differences between expected and actual experience (16,711)         
Changes in assumptions or other inputs 49,584           
Benefit payments (4,458)           
Net changes 50,228           

Total OPEB Liability – end of year 362,235$       

 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to changes in the discount rate 
 
The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.71 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.71% percent) 
than the current discount rate: 
 

1% Decrease in 
Discount Rate (2.71%) Discount Rate   (3.71%)

1% Increase in         
Discount Rate          

(4.71%)

City's total OPEB liability 359,084$                   312,007$                     273,755$                       

 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2020, the City recognized OPEB expense for this plan of $25,230. 
 
At September 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
from the following sources: 
 

Deferred              
Outflows of Resources

Deferred            
Inflows of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual economic experience -$                              24,070$                     

Changes in actual assumptions 38,431                           -                             
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 9,749                            -                             

Total 48,180$                         24,070$                     

 
$9,749 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the year ending September 30, 2021.  
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Note 9: Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) - continued 
 
City of Graham Retiree Health Care Benefits Plan - continued 
 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense 
as follows: 
 
Year Ended December 31:
2021 3,417$              
2022 3,417                
2023 1,124                
2024 3,525                
Thereafter 2,878                

14,361$            

 
City of Graham Retiree Health Care Benefits Plan 
 
Plan Description 

 
The City provides certain health care benefits to retired employees under a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan.  
The City maintains self-funded medical, prescription drug, dental and vision coverage for eligible employees and retired 
employees and their dependents.  The plan does not issue separate financial statements.  No assets are accumulated in a trust 
that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 75. 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
The Plan provides medical, prescription drug, dental and vision coverage for eligible employees and retired employees and 
their spouse.  All retirees with earliest of retirement after a) age 65 with 10 years of service; b) age 60 with 15 of service; or 
c) with 20 years of service without regard to age are eligible to continue their health insurance coverage at the same cost that 
the City pays for its employees.  Thus, in effect, the City is subsidizing the cost of the higher premiums for its retirees.  
 
At the September 30, 2020, valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms:  
 

Inactive employees 21

Active employees 82

Total 103

 
Funding Policy 
 
Plan members are required to pay a premium for themselves and their dependent.  Retirees contribute based on their coverage 
tier. These contributions may vary by plan and date of hire. For retirees hired prior to April 6, 2012 the target is 43% of the 
total retiree contribution rate (including spouse coverage) plus the excess over the active employee rate. For retirees hired 
between April 6, 2012 and April 6, 2017, the percentage is 71% and for those hired after April 6, 2017, the retiree 
contribution is 100% of the cost. Spouse coverage not included in the subsidy for retirees hired on or after April 6, 2012.  
Retiree medical benefits continue for life as long as contributions are made by the retiree. 
 
Dental and vision benefits are available on a 100% retiree paid contribution basis.  These benefits are not included in the 
valuation. 
 
Total OPEB Liability 
 
The City’s total OPEB liability was measured as of September 30, 2020, and was determined by an actuarial valuation as of 
that date. 
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Note 9:  Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) - continued 
 
City of Graham Retiree Health Care Benefits Plan - continued 
 
Actuarial assumptions and other inputs 
 
Projections of health benefits are based on the plan as understood by the City and include the types of benefits in force at the 
valuation date and the pattern of sharing benefit costs between the City and its employees to that point. Actuarial calculations 
reflect a long-term perspective and employ methods and assumptions that are designed to reduce short-term volatility in 
actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets.  

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events in 
the future. Amounts determined regarding the funded status and the annual required contributions of the City’s retiree health 
care plan are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made 
about the future. The required schedule of funding progress provides multiyear trend information that shows whether the 
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 
 
The total OPEB liability in the September 30, 2020, actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 
 

Actuarial method Individual entry age normal cost method – level percentage of projected salary 

Health care cost trend Level 4.50% 

Discount rate 2.25% 

Salary scale 3.50% 

The discount rate was based on the Fidelity Index’s “20-Year Municipal GO AA Index” rate as of September 30, 2020. 
 
All administrative expenses are paid by the City of Graham. 
 
Mortality rates for service retirees were determined using RPH-2014 Total Table with Projection MP-2019.  Disability rates 
were not assumed. 
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability  
 
Total OPEB Liability - beginning of year 3,463,905$    
Changes for the year:

Service Cost 67,057           
Interest on Total OPEB Liability 140,467         
Changes of benefit terms -                
Differences between expected and actual experience (212,159)       
Changes in assumptions or other inputs 1,002,436      
Benefit payments (142,377)       
Net changes 855,424         

Total OPEB Liability – end of year 4,319,329$    
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Note 9:  Post-Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) - continued 
 
City of Graham Retiree Health Care Benefits Plan - continued 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to changes in the health care cost trend rate 
 
The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (4.00 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (6.00% percent) 
than the current discount rate: 
 

1% Decrease in 
Discount Rate (1.25%) Discount Rate   (2.25%)

1% Increase in 
Discount Rate 

(3.25%)

City's total OPEB liability 5,129,029$                 4,319,329$                   3,689,699$                     

 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to changes in the discount rate 
 
The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (3.06 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (5.06 percent) 
than the current discount rate: 
 

1% Decrease in Trend 
Rate (3.50%) Trend Rate   (4.50%)

1% Increase in Trend 
Rate (5.50%)

City's total OPEB liability 3,652,124$                4,319,329$                  5,196,054$                    

 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2020, the City recognized OPEB expense for this plan of $322,724. 
 
At September 30, 2020, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
from the following sources: 
 

Deferred              
Outflows of Resources

Deferred            
Inflows of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual economic experience -$                              181,232$                   

Changes in actual assumptions 856,309                         -                             

Total 856,309$                       181,232$                   

 
 
These amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense 
as follows: 
 

Year Ended September 30:
2021 115,200$          
2022 115,200            
2023 115,200            
2024 115,200            
2025 115,200            
Thereafter 99,077              

675,077$          
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Note 10:   Risk Management 
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss relating to general liability, accidental loss of real and personal property damage 
to City assets, errors and omissions and personal risks which relate to workers’ compensation. The City participates in the 
Texas Municipal League Intergovernmental Risk Pool (the Pool). As an insured, the City is not obligated to reimburse the 
Pool for losses. Any losses, reported but unsettled or incurred and not reported, are believed to be insignificant to the City’s 
financial statements.   

 
Commercial insurance is purchased for the other risks of losses to which the City is exposed. There have been no significant 
reductions in insurance coverage in the current year and settlement amounts have not exceeded insurance coverage for each 
of the past three years. 
 
Note 11:  Working Agreements 
 
In addition to the funds that the City sets aside for perpetual cemetery care in its nonexpendable trust fund, individuals may 
place money in the trust fund, which revert to those individuals. During the time that the money is held in trust, any income 
earned may be used for the purposes of the trust. These amounts are designated as working agreements and shown as 
liabilities of the fund. 
 
Note 12:  Deficits in Fund Balance 

At September 30, 2020, the General Fund and Graham Airport Fund had deficit fund balances of $2,024,541 and $140,441, 
respectively, due to pending reimbursement.   
 
Note 13: Commitments and Contingencies 
 
The City participates in numerous federal and state assisted programs.  In connection with these grants, the City is required to 
comply with specific terms and agreements as well as applicable federal and state laws and regulations.  Such compliance is 
subject to review and audit by the grantors and their representatives.  In the opinion of management, the City has complied 
with all requirements.  However, since such programs are subject to future audit or review, the possibility of disallowed 
expenditures exists.  In the event of any disallowance of claimed expenditures, the City expects the resulting liability to be 
immaterial. 
 
Note 14: Pandemic 
 
The COVID-19 outbreak in the United States has created economic uncertainties that may impact future operations.  The 
extent of the impact on operational and financial performance will depend on certain developments, including the duration 
and spread of the outbreak, impact on citizens, employees, and vendors, all of which are uncertain and cannot be predicted.  
At this time, the extent to which COVID-19 may impact the City’s financial condition or results of operations is unknown. 
 



 

 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
Required supplementary information includes financial information and disclosures required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board but not considered a part of the basic financial statements. 
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Note A: Budget to Actual Schedule 
 
Budget and Budgetary Accounting 
 
The City Council adopts an annual budget for the general, solid waste, storm drainage, water, sewer, and waste water funds.  
The general fund budget is legally adopted.  The annual budgets for the general fund is adopted on a modified accrual basis.  
The budget for the water and sewer funds are adopted under a basis consistent with GAAP, except that amortization and 
depreciation are not considered (working capital basis). 

 
The following procedures are followed in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the Basic Financial Statements: 

 
Prior to the beginning of the fiscal year, the City prepares a budget for the next succeeding fiscal year.  The operating 
budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.  A meeting of the City Council is then called 
for the purpose of adopting the proposed budget.  At least ten days public notice of the meeting must have been given.  
Prior to the start of the fiscal year, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution by the City Council. 
 
Once a budget is approved, it can only be amended by approval of a majority of the members of City Council.  As 
required by law, such amendments are made before the fact, are reflected in the official minutes of City Council and are 
not made after fiscal year end.  All budget appropriations lapse at year end. 

 
Budget Amendments 
 
The City amended the budget during the year ended September 30, 2020. 
 
Note B: Net Pension Liability – Texas Municipal Retirement System 
 
Assumptions 
 
The following methods and assumptions were used to determine contribution rates: 
 
Valuation date  Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 

and become effective in January 13 months later. 
   
Actuarial cost method  Entry age normal 
   
Amortization method  Level percentage of payroll, closed 
   
Remaining amortization period  26 years 
   
Asset valuation method  10-year smoothed market; 12% soft corridor 
   
Inflation  2.50% 
   
Salary increases  3.50% to 10.50%, including inflation 
   
Investment rate of return  6.75% 
   
Retirement age  Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City’s plan of 

benefits.  Last updated for the 2019 valuation pursuant to an experience 
study of the 2014 – 2018. 

   
Mortality  Post-retirement: 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables. The 

rates are projected on a fully generational basis with scale UMP. 
Pre-retirement: PUB(10) mortality tables, with the Public Safety table used 
for males and the General Employee table used for females. The rates are 
projected on a fully generational basis with scale UMP. 
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Note B: Net Pension Liability – Texas Municipal Retirement System - continued 
 
Changes of Benefit Terms 
 
There were no changes of benefit terms that affected measurement of the total pension liability during the measurement 
period. 
 
 
Changes in the Size or Composition of the Population Covered by the Benefit Terms 
 
There were no changes in the size or composition of the population covered by the benefit terms during the measurement 
period. 
 
 
Changes of Assumptions 
 
There were no changes of assumptions or other inputs that affected measurement of the total pension liability during the 
measurement period. 
 
Note C: Total OPEB Liability – Texas Municipal Retirement System Supplemental Death Benefit Fund 
 
Changes of Assumptions 
 
Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the change in the municipal bond rate index, which is used as a basis for the 
discount rate. 
 
Trust 
 
No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB statement No. 75 to pay related benefits. 
 
Note D: Total OPEB Liability – City of Graham Retiree Health Care Benefit Plan 
 
Changes of Assumptions 
 
Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the change in the municipal bond rate index, which is used as a basis for the 
discount rate, and the change in the medical trend rate, which is based on the PRH-2014 Total table with Projection MP-
2019. 
 
Trust 
 
No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB statement No. 75 to pay related benefits. 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 

 
 

COMBINING STATEMENTS AND BUDGETARY COMPARISON 
SCHEDULES AS SUPPLEMENTARY INORMATION 

 
The supplementary information includes financial statements and schedules not required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, nor a part of the basic financial statements, but are presented for purposes of additional analysis. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and 
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 

Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 

 
 
City Council 
City of Graham, Texas 
429 Fourth Street 
Graham, Texas  76450 
 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the 
aggregate discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
City of Graham, Texas, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City of Graham, Texas’ basic financial statements and have issued our 
report thereon dated May 11, 2021. 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Graham, Texas’ internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Graham, Texas’ internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Graham, Texas’ internal control. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not 
designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. However, as 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses, we identified certain deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses and significant deficiencies. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We consider the deficiencies described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and responses as findings 2020-01, 2020-02, and 2020-03 to be material 
weaknesses. 

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We consider the 
deficiencies described in the accompany schedule of findings and responses as finding 2020-04 to be a significant 
deficiency. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Graham, Texas’ financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
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contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards and which are described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2019-05. 

City of Graham, Texas’ Response to Findings 

City of Graham, Texas’ response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and responses. City of Graham, Texas’ response was not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any 
other purpose. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
 
 

MWH GROUP, P.C. 
Wichita Falls, Texas 
May 11, 2021 
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A. Summary of Auditor’s Results - Financial Statements 
 
  Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified 
 
  Internal control over financial reporting: 
 
   Material weakness(es) identified?     X      Yes             No 
 
   Significant deficiency (ies) identified that are not 
   considered to be material weaknesses?     X      Yes             No 
 
  Noncompliance material to financial 
    statements noted?     X      Yes             No 
 
B. Financial Statement Finding  
 
 
Finding 2020-01: Material Weakness over Financial Reporting – Material Audit Adjustment 
 
Type of Finding: Material Weakness 
 
Condition and Criteria:  The City’s internal control over financial reporting should ensure all financial statement 
amounts are adjusted to be in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  During the audit, 
we proposed several audit adjustments that were material to the City’s financial statements. The overall audit 
adjustments for governmental funds increased assets by $311,511, increased liabilities by $497,079, and increased 
fund balance by $185,568. The overall audit adjustments for the utility funds decreased assets by $956,495, decreased 
liabilities by $766,805, and decreased fund balance by $189,609.  
 
Cause:  The City failed to identify all the adjustments needed during the year-end close process to adjust the general 
ledger balances to be in accordance with GAAP. 
 
Effect: Material audit adjustments were required for the financial statement amounts to be in accordance with GAAP. 
 
Recommendations:  We recommend that the City perform all necessary reconciliations of general ledger balances to 
supporting records during the year and especially during the year-end close process to ensure that all balances are 
adjusted as necessary to be in agreement with the supporting records and recorded in accordance with GAAP.  
Additionally, we recommend that the City analyze unusual transactions during the year to determine if they are 
properly recorded in the general ledger. 
 
View of Responsible Officials: We are in agreement with the finding, and we are working to improve financial 
reporting in the future. 
 
Finding 2020-02: Control Environment 
 
Type of Finding: Material Weakness 
 
Criteria or Specific Requirement: A control environment sets the tone of an organization, influences the control 
consciousness of its people, and is the foundation of all other components of internal control over financial reporting. 
Internal control over financial reporting consists of the following five components: 
 

 Control Environment —The set of standards, processes, and structures that provide the basis for carrying out 
internal control across the City. The City Council and senior management establish the tone at the top 
regarding the importance of internal control and expected standards of conduct. 
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Finding 2020-02: Control Environment - continued 

 
 Risk Assessment —Involves a dynamic and iterative process for identifying and analyzing risks to achieving 

the entity's objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be managed. Management considers  
possible changes in the external environment and within its own organization that may impede its ability to 
achieve its objectives. 

 
 Control Activities —Actions established by policies and procedures to help ensure that management 

directives to mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out. Control activities are performed 
at all levels of the entity and at various stages within business processes, and over the technology 
environment. 

 
 Information and Communication —Information is necessary for the entity to carry out internal control 

responsibilities in support of achievement of its objectives. Communication occurs both internally and 
externally and provides the organization with the information needed to carry out day-to-day controls. 
Communication enables personnel to understand internal control responsibilities and their importance to the 
achievement of objectives. 

 
 Monitoring Activities —Ongoing evaluations, separate evaluations, or some combination of the two are used 

to determine whether each of the five components of internal control, including controls to effect the  
principles within each component, is present and functioning. Findings are evaluated and deficiencies are 
communicated in a timely manner, with serious matters reported to senior management and to the board. 

 
Statement of Condition: The City does not have formal policies and procedures that effectively communicates internal 
control processes and expectations for employee performance.  Additionally, the City does not have adequate policies 
and procedures for departments that function outside of the City’s routine procedures, such as the airport and arena. 
 
Cause: The City’s administrative staff is small and has experienced turnover in key positions. 
 
Effect: Control processes that are in place are not consistently applied or followed, and employee responsibilities are 
not clearly defined. 
 
Recommendations: The City should document policies for all components of internal control.  Documentation can 
take many forms, such as paper documents, electronic, or other media, and it can be presented in a number of ways, 
such as policy manuals, process models, flowcharts, job descriptions, documents, internal memorandums, forms, 
emails, instructions or directions to and from management to City employees, etc. The documentation does not need 
to include all controls that exist within a process that impacts financial reporting but should be focused on those 
controls that management concludes are adequate to address the financial reporting risks.  As part of this process, the 
City should establish clear and consistent policies and procedures for activities at the airport, arena, and other 
locations that collect funds outside of the City’s normal process. 
 
View of Responsible Officials: Action is in process on this finding. Manuals are present for Utility Clerk and 
Assistant Finance Director. The manuals include job duties/functions and details on how to perform transactions. 
Procedures for cash handling have been in place for the past 3 years. We continue to create specific polices and 
procedures with the review and approval by the City Manager. The finance director intends to create an “intranet” 
computer system to ensure staff have access to perform job duties, understand expectations, and strive for compliance. 
In addition, we will be establishing the five components listed above to gain internal control.  
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Finding 2020-03: Reconciliations of Account Balances and Subsidiary Ledgers 
 
Type of Finding: Material Weakness 
 
Criteria or Specific Requirement: Effective internal control and accounting practices require subsidiary ledgers to be 
reconciled to the general ledger on a monthly basis. Fund Balance, long-term obligations and capital assets should be 
reconciled at the end of the fiscal year, at a minimum. 
 
Statement of Condition: Reconciliations are not consistently prepared and reviewed on a monthly basis for accounts 
payable, accounts receivables, and internal balances. Additionally, the City does not have a process for the 
reconciliations of the fund balance, long-term obligations and capital assets. If not reconciled, the financial statements 
could result in a material misstatement. 
 
Cause:  The City’s accounting staff is small and has experienced recent turnover in key positions. 
 
Effect: The lack of reconciliations increases the risk of material misstatement in the financial statements for these 
areas, either due to error or fraud. Significant audit adjustments were proposed to properly state these accounts. 
 
Recommendations: The City should design and implement a monthly reconciliation process for subsidiary ledgers, 
including accounts payable, accounts receivable, and internal balances, and an annual reconciliation process for fund 
balances, long-term debt, and capital assets. 
 
View of Responsible Officials: We have obtained recommendations and should not encounter this finding after this 
fiscal year. General ledgers used for manual entries that were not posted correctly have been set as restricted to 
prevent any manual entries posting to the restricted ledgers. Going forward, subsidiary ledgers such as accounts 
payable, accounts receivable and municipal court will be reconciled on a monthly basis. 
 
Finding 2020-04: Special Revenue Funds 
 
Type of Finding: Significant Deficiency 
 
Criteria or Specific Requirement: All funds and cash accounts for which the City has ultimate responsibility should be 
included in the accounting system and related activity should be posted regularly. 
 
Statement of Condition: Two special revenue funds are not recorded in the Incode accounting system: Convention and 
Visitors Bureau and the Library Fund. 
 
Cause: These funds are kept in different accounting systems and the activity for those is accounted for by employees 
outside of the finance department. 
 
Effect: There is an increased risk of error or transactions not being recorded in the City's financial systems. 
 
Recommendations: The City should include these funds in their accounting software and cash for those funds should 
be reconciled and verified by those in the finance department. 
 
View of Responsible Officials: Although the CVB and the Library will continue to operate as separate from the City, 
we will continue to post entries for the Library on a regular basis and reconcile monthly. Through the City Manager, 
we will request the CVB provide financial statements and bank statements to the finance department. The City 
provides financial support to the CVB and it is imperative we review CVB activity. 
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Finding 2020-05: Water Rates 
 
Type of Finding: Compliance 
 
Criteria or Specific Requirement: The City’s utilities should be billed in accordance with the City’s Ordinances, as 
approved and passed by City Council. 
 
Statement of Condition: The City’s water billing system did not reflect the water rates as outlined in Ordinance 1085 
and passed by City Council on April 18, 2019. 
 
Cause: The Ordinance mistakenly changed the first usage threshold from “0  – 4,000 gallons” to “0 – 6,000 gallons,”  
which was not management’s intent.  The City continued to bill using the lower “0 – 4,000 gallons” threshold in 
violation of the passed Ordinance. 
 
Effect: The City’s utility customer bills were not calculated in accordance with Ordinance 1085. 
 
Recommendation: The City should calculate customer bills in accordance with Ordinances.  Any errors discovered in 
the City’s Ordinances should be corrected immediately through the passage of a corrected Ordinance. 
 
Views of Responsible Officials: We corrected the discrepancy through Ordinance 1100, which passed on August 6, 
2020. 
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Finding 2019-01: Material Weakness over Financial Reporting – Material Audit Adjustment 
 
Type of Finding: Material Weakness 
 
Condition and Criteria:  The City’s internal control over financial reporting should ensure all financial statement 
amounts are adjusted to be in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  During the audit, 
we proposed several audit adjustments that were material to the City’s financial statements. The overall audit 
adjustments for governmental funds increased assets by $583,162, increased liabilities by $164,326, and increased 
fund balance by $418,836. The overall audit adjustments for the utility funds decreased assets by $417,842, increased 
liabilities by $776,130, and decreased fund balance by $358,288.  
 
Cause:  The City failed to identify all the adjustments needed during the year-end close process to adjust the general 
ledger balances to be in accordance with GAAP. 
 
Effect: Material audit adjustments were required for the financial statement amounts to be in accordance with GAAP. 
 
Recommendations:  We recommend that the City perform all necessary reconciliations of general ledger balances to 
supporting records during the year and especially during the year-end close process to ensure that all balances are 
adjusted as necessary to be in agreement with the supporting records and recorded in accordance with GAAP.  
Additionally, we recommend that the City analyze unusual transactions during the year to determine if they are 
properly recorded in the general ledger. 
 
View of Responsible Officials: We are in agreement with the finding, and we are working to improve financial 
reporting in the future. 
 
Current Status:  See Finding 2020-01. 
 
Finding 2019-02: Control Environment 
 
Type of Finding: Material Weakness 
 
Criteria or Specific Requirement: A control environment sets the tone of an organization, influences the control 
consciousness of its people, and is the foundation of all other components of internal control over financial reporting. 
Internal control over financial reporting consists of the following five components: 
 

 Control Environment —The set of standards, processes, and structures that provide the basis for carrying out 
internal control across the City. The City Council and senior management establish the tone at the top 
regarding the importance of internal control and expected standards of conduct. 
 

 Risk Assessment —Involves a dynamic and iterative process for identifying and analyzing risks to achieving 
the entity's objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be managed. Management considers  
possible changes in the external environment and within its own organization that may impede its ability to 
achieve its objectives. 

 
 Control Activities —Actions established by policies and procedures to help ensure that management 

directives to mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried out. Control activities are performed 
at all levels of the entity and at various stages within business processes, and over the technology 
environment. 

 
 Information and Communication —Information is necessary for the entity to carry out internal control 

responsibilities in support of achievement of its objectives. Communication occurs both internally and 
externally and provides the organization with the information needed to carry out day-to-day controls. 
Communication enables personnel to understand internal control responsibilities and their importance to the 
achievement of objectives. 
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 Monitoring Activities —Ongoing evaluations, separate evaluations, or some combination of the two are used 

to determine whether each of the five components of internal control, including controls to effect the  
principles within each component, is present and functioning. Findings are evaluated and deficiencies are 
communicated in a timely manner, with serious matters reported to senior management and to the board. 

 
Statement of Condition: The City does not have formal policies and procedures that effectively communicates internal 
control processes and expectations for employee performance. 
 
Cause: The City’s administrative staff is small and has experienced turnover in key positions. 
 
Effect: Control processes that are in place are not consistently applied or followed, and employee responsibilities are 
not clearly defined. 
 
Recommendations: The City should document policies for all components of internal control.  Documentation can 
take many forms, such as paper documents, electronic, or other media, and it can be presented in a number of ways, 
such as policy manuals, process models, flowcharts, job descriptions, documents, internal memorandums, forms, 
emails, instructions or directions to and from management to City employees, etc. The documentation does not need 
to include all controls that exist within a process that impacts financial reporting but should be focused on those 
controls that management concludes are adequate to address the financial reporting risks. 
 
View of Responsible Officials: Action is in process on this finding. Manuals are present for Utility Clerk and 
Assistant Finance Director. The manuals include job duties/functions and details on how to perform transactions. 
Procedures for cash handling have been in place for the past 3 years. We continue to create specific polices and 
procedures with the review and approval by the City Manager. The finance director intends to create an “intranet” 
computer system to ensure staff have access to perform job duties, understand expectations, and strive for compliance. 
In addition, we will be establishing the five components listed above to gain internal control.  
 
Current Status:  See Finding 2020-02. 
 
Finding 2019-03: Reconciliations of Account Balances and Subsidiary Ledgers 
 
Type of Finding: Material Weakness 
 
Criteria or Specific Requirement: Effective internal control and accounting practices require subsidiary ledgers to be 
reconciled to the general ledger on a monthly basis. Fund Balance, long-term obligations and capital assets should be 
reconciled at the end of the fiscal year, at a minimum. 
 
Statement of Condition: Reconciliations are not consistently prepared and reviewed on a monthly basis for accounts 
payable, accounts receivables, and internal balances. Additionally, the City does not have a process for the 
reconciliations of the fund balance, long-term obligations and capital assets. If not reconciled, the financial statements 
could result in a material misstatement. 
 
Cause:  The City’s accounting staff is small and has experienced recent turnover in key positions. 
 
Effect: The lack of reconciliations increases the risk of material misstatement in the financial statements for these 
areas, either due to error or fraud. Significant audit adjustments were proposed to properly state these accounts. 
 
Recommendations: The City should design and implement a monthly reconciliation process for subsidiary ledgers, 
including accounts payable, accounts receivable, and internal balances, and an annual reconciliation process for fund 
balances, long-term debt, and capital assets. 
 
View of Responsible Officials: We have obtained recommendations and should not encounter this finding after this 
fiscal year. General ledgers used for manual entries that were not posted correctly have been set as restricted to 
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Finding 2019-03: Reconciliations of Account Balances and Subsidiary Ledgers - continued  
 
prevent any manual entries posting to the restricted ledgers. Going forward, subsidiary ledgers such as accounts 
payable, accounts receivable and municipal court will be reconciled on a monthly basis. 
 
Current Status:  See Finding 2020-02. 
 
Finding 2019-04: Special Revenue Funds 
 
Type of Finding: Significant Deficiency 
 
Criteria or Specific Requirement: All funds and cash accounts for which the City has ultimate responsibility should be 
included in the accounting system should be posted regularly. 
 
Statement of Condition: Two special revenue funds are not recorded in the Incode accounting system: 
Convention and Visitors Bureau and the Library Fund. 
 
Cause: These funds are kept in different accounting systems and the activity for those is accounted for by employees 
outside of the finance department. 
 
Effect: There is an increased risk of error or transactions not being recorded in the City's financial systems. 
 
Recommendations: The City should include these funds in their accounting software and cash for those funds should 
be reconciled and verified by those in the finance department. 
 
View of Responsible Officials: Although the CVB and the Library will continue to operate as separate from the City, 
we will continue to post entries for the Library on a regular basis and reconcile monthly. Through the City Manager, 
we will request the CVB provide financial statements and bank statements to the finance department. The City 
provides financial support to the CVB and it is imperative we review CVB activity. 
 
Current Status:  See Finding 2020-04. 
 
Finding 2019-05: Water Rates 
 
Type of Finding: Compliance 
 
Criteria or Specific Requirement: The City’s utilities should be billed in accordance with the City’s Ordinances, as 
approved and passed by City Council. 
 
Statement of Condition: The City’s water billing system did not reflect the water rates as outlined in Ordinance 1085 
and passed by City Council on April 18, 2019. 
 
Cause: The Ordinance mistakenly changed the first usage threshold from “0  – 4,000 gallons” to “0 – 6,000 gallons,”  
which was not management’s intent.  The City continued to bill using the lower “0 – 4,000 gallons” threshold in 
violation of the passed Ordinance. 
 
Effect: The City’s utility customer bills were not calculated in accordance with Ordinance 1085. 
 
Recommendation: The City should calculate customer bills in accordance with Ordinances.  Any errors discovered in 
the City’s Ordinances should be correctly immediately through the passage of a corrected Ordinance. 
 
Views of Responsible Officials: We are aware of the discrepancy, and we are working to correct it for future periods. 
 
 
Current Status:  See Finding 2020-05. 




